
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

December 6, 2022  9:00 am 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr  
 

3. Recognitions / Public Presentations  
 
A) Presentation of a retirement award to Tammy Rushing (Administrative Assistant) 

who is retiring effective January 1, 2023, after 30 years of service. 
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a)  11-15-2022 Council Minutes 
 

6. Public Hearing and consideration of a motion to approve an alcohol license in accordance 
with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a):  

 
Patel 3190 LLC d/b/a OK Food Mart  
3190 Northside Drive West   
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
License Type: Package Sales – Beer and Wine only 
 

7. Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution 2022-40: A Resolution accepting the 
right of way of "Quail Run Drive" as a public street to be owned and maintained by the 
City of Statesboro. 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022-41: A Resolution approving the 
submission of a Community Home Investment Program (CHIP) grant application to the 
Georgia Department of Community Affairs and commitment of matching funds. 
 

9. Consideration of a motion to approve a lease agreement to provide office space to 
Representative Rick Allen for an additional two years with no rent assessed.  
 

10. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Y-Delta Inc. in the amount of 
$1,632,370.04 for the installation of water and sewer mains at the Bruce Yawn 
Commerce Park to serve Aspen Aerogels. To be paid for with funds approved in the 
FY2023 CIP Budget item #WWD-154, using system revenue and grant proceeds. 
 

11. Other Business from City Council 
 



 
 

12.  City Managers Comments 
 
13. Public Comments (General) 

 
14. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 15, 2022 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      5:30 PM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Absent   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Absent    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present via Zoom   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Information Officer 
Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr announced the addition of a Resolution to the agenda as item #16. 
4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 11-01-2022 Council Minutes 
b) 11-01-2022 Executive Session Minutes 

B) Consideration of a grant of license for the package sale of distilled spirits, beer, and 
wine to Shree Dhan Laxmi, LLC DBA EZ Liquors located at 1525 Fair Road Suite 
106. 

C) Consideration of motion to approve execution of documents to amend Service Delivery 
Strategies agreement to allow for extension of provision of water services by the City 
of Brooklet. 

 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



2 
 

5. Second reading and consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2022-08: An Ordinance 
amending Chapter 2 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances establishing the Statesboro 
Business Commission.  

 
A Motion was made to approve Ordinance 2022-08 amending Chapter 2 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 
establishing the Statesboro Business Commission.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION SE 22-10-01: 
Samantha Lindley requests a Special Exception from Article IX of the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance in order to allow for a non-medical massage therapy office at 108 South Zetterower 
Avenue. 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Samantha Lindley and Judy Simmons spoke in favor of the request.  
No one spoke against the request.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

3 
 

A motion was made to approve APPLICATION SE 22-10-01: a Special Exception from Article IX of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance in order to allow for a non-medical massage therapy office at 108 South Zetterower Avenue.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION SE 22-10-02: 
Kirk Farrelly requests a Special Exception from Article X of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 
in order to develop a tire shop/minor auto repair store at 35 Freedom Way. 
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Michael Corcoran with Civil Logistics spoke on behalf of the owner in favor of the request.  
 
No one spoke against the request.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr voiced her concern regarding the look of tires being out and that this type of business seems 
to be out of character in the area. A place like this would be more suited in an industrial oriented area. 
 
There was council discussion regarding the landscape buffer between the back of the building and the walking trail. 
There will be a landscape buffer strip and a strip at least 10 feet wide densely planted with shrubs and or trees at least 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



4 
 

three feet high at the time of planting that will possess growth characteristics to produce a dense, compact, screen capable 
of growing to a height of at least six feet in three years.    
 
A motion was made to approve APPLICATION SE 22-10-02: a Special Exception from Article X of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance in order to develop a tire shop/minor auto repair store at 35 Freedom Way.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
         
               NAYS 
 
 

8. Public Hearing and consideration of a motion to approve an alcohol license in accordance with 
the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a):  

Publix Super Markets, Inc.  
101 Tormenta Way  
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
License Type: Package Sales – Beer and Wine only 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved 3-1 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 



 

5 
 

A motion was made to approve an alcohol license in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-
13 (a): Publix Super Markets, Inc. 101 Tormenta Way Statesboro, Ga 30458 License Type: Package Sales – Beer and 
Wine only.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

9. Public Hearing and consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2022-09: An ordinance 
to adopt an amendment to the City of Statesboro Speed Control Ordinance including the 
accompanying GDOT List of Roadways List Number 09092019 document in order to enforce 
posted speed limits within the City of Statesboro utilizing speed detection devices. 
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Councilmember John Riggs asked what the process would be to reduce the speed limit from Gentilly to Georgia Avenue 
on Fair Road from 45 mph to 35mph. 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



6 
 

City Manager Charles Penny said we would need to speak with GDOT about reducing speed limits on state roads and 
that staff will make that request.  
  
A motion was made to approve Ordinance 2022-09: An ordinance to adopt an amendment to the City of Statesboro 
Speed Control Ordinance including the accompanying GDOT List of Roadways List Number 09092019 document in 
order to enforce posted speed limits within the City of Statesboro utilizing speed detection devices.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

10. Consideration of a motion to approve a sole source emergency purchase with Y-Delta Inc in 
the amount of $36,367.79 for a sewer main repair on Tillman Road. Funding is from Operating 
Revenues. 

 
A motion was made to approve a sole source emergency purchase with Y-Delta Inc in the amount of $36,367.79 for a 
sewer main repair on Tillman Road. Funding is from Operating Revenues.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

11. Consideration of a motion to award the purchase of three hundred ¾” Sensus domestic water 
meters and one 10” Sensus commercial water meter from Core&Main Inc in the amount of 
$55,300.00. To be purchased with funds approved in the 2023 Water Sewer Operating Budget 
funded with system revenue. 
 

A motion was made to award the purchase of three hundred ¾” Sensus domestic water meters and one 10” Sensus 
commercial water meter from Core&Main Inc in the amount of $55,300.00. To be purchased with funds approved in the 
2023 Water Sewer Operating Budget funded with system revenue.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

7 
 

 
12. Consideration of a motion to award the purchase of two 12” Check Valves to Ferguson 

Waterworks in the amount of $36,318.00. To be purchased with funds approved in 2023 CIP 
item #WWD-154, funded with system revenue and grant proceeds. 
 
 

A motion was made to approve to award the purchase of two 12” Check Valves to Ferguson Waterworks in the amount 
of $36,318.00. To be purchased with funds approved in 2023 CIP item #WWD-154, funded with system revenue and 
grant proceeds.   
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

13. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to C&H Pipeline Inc. in the amount of 
$366,413.39 with approval to spend up to $420,000.00 for the installation of 3800’ of 6” steel 
natural gas main at the Gateway Industrial park to serve Aspen Aerogels. To be paid for with 
Operating Revenue funds approved in the FY2023 CIP Budget item #NGD-99. 
 
 

A motion was made to award a contract to C&H Pipeline Inc. in the amount of $366,413.39 with approval to spend up 
to $420,000.00 for the installation of 3800’ of 6” steel natural gas main at the Gateway Industrial park to serve Aspen 
Aerogels. To be paid for with Operating Revenue funds approved in the FY2023 CIP Budget item #NGD-99. 
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



8 
 

14. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Vortex Services, LLC in the amount of 
$797,065.00 with the approval to spend up to $850,000.00 to rehabilitate approximately 14000’ 
of sewer main. This project was funded as part of the 2023 CIP Budget, Item #WWD14, with 
funds from 2019 SPLOST. 

 
A motion was made to approve to award a contract to Vortex Services, LLC in the amount of $797,065.00 with the 
approval to spend up to $850,000.00 to rehabilitate approximately 14000’ of sewer main. This project was funded as 
part of the 2023 CIP Budget, Item #WWD14, with funds from 2019 SPLOST.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

15. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Yancey Cat in the amount of $134,034.00 for 
the purchase of a new Caterpillar 306 CAB A/C Mini Excavator for the Streets Division in the 
Public Works & Engineering Department per Sourcewell contract. Funding is from 2018 
TSPLOST. 
 

A motion was made to award a contract to Yancey Cat in the amount of $134,034.00 for the purchase of a new Caterpillar 
306 CAB A/C Mini Excavator for the Streets Division in the Public Works & Engineering Department per Sourcewell 
contract. Funding is from 2018 TSPLOST.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

16. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022-39: A Resolution to rescind Resolution 
2021-29. 
 

A motion was made to approve Resolution 2022-39 to rescind Resolution 2021-29.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

9 
 

17. Other Business from City Council:  
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr congratulated the Tormenta players on their recent win. She also announced the downtown 
Holiday Celebration will hosted by the DSDA will take place Friday December 2, 2022 and encourages people to attend.  
  

18. City Managers Comments 
City Manager Charles Penny invited Mayor and Council to join us on Tuesday November 22, 2022 for the employee 
luncheon. The luncheon will begin at 11:00 am at the Nesmith Lane Center on Georgia Southern Campus.  
Mr. Penny announced that Bill Gross the developer of the old Julia P Bryant property received notification that they are 
funded for the tax credits to build senior housing. Also the Fernhill Farm project, which is a project we used some of our 
housing incentive funds has started moving land for an 80 lot subdivision. 
Other exciting news is we are getting the busses tomorrow.   
 

19. Public Comments (General): None 
 

20. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Potential Litigation” in 
accordance with O.C.G.A. 50-14-3(b). 

No Executive Session was held. 
 

21. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:17 pm. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 
 
From: Tax Department 
 
Date: 11/29/2022 
 
RE: Patel 3190 LLC DBA OK Food Mart 
 
Policy Issue: Alcohol License Approval 
 
Recommendation:  
Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license classified as Package Sales (Beer 
& Wine) & Sunday Sales in accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a) to be 
issued to Patel 3190 LLC DBA OK Food Mart located at 3190 Northside Drive West. 
 
Background:  
OK Food Mart convenience store located at 3190 Northside Drive West has undergone a change in 
ownership. This change requires the new owner to apply for a new alcohol license and get approval in 
accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 
 
No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person & District: Paulette Chavers, District 2 
 
Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 





















 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
DATE:  November 22, 2022 
 
TO:  Tax Department 
 
 
SUBJECT: ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE APPLICATION (3190 Northside Drive West, Ok Food 
Mart) 
 
The Department of Planning and Development has reviewed the alcoholic beverage application submitted 
by Ok Food Mart for 3190 Northside Drive West.  The applicant is proposing retail package sale of beer 
and wine for a “gas station with a convenience store” at the location. The proposed sale of alcoholic 
beverages is permitted at the location and the application may be APPROVED.  Staff's recommendation 
is based on the following: 
 
1) Zoning District:  3190 Northside Drive West is located in the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) 
district. 
2) Zoning Use Classification:  Per Article XI, a “gas station with a convenience store” may be classified 
in the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) district as: 

 
 Service to the public. 

  
3) Alcohol Beverages Proximity Restrictions: The Department of Planning & Development has 

reviewed the subject property for consistency with the proximity restrictions of Chapter 6, Section 6-7 (d) 

of Statesboro Codes and Ordinances. The proposed location is required to adhere to the regulations set 

forth by O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21. As per Chapter 6-7, Class D, E, and F licenses shall be issued for a location 

only if the location complies with the proximity requirements provided by O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21 as 

measured by the rules and regulations promulgated by the Georgia Department of Revenue. The proposed 

location is required to adhere to the proximity requirements and package sales for off-premises 

consumption governed by O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21. 
 
The Department of Planning and Development recommendation of approval is based on the information 
provided within the business occupational tax application submitted for our review. This approval does not 
confer rights to open or operate the proposed business until all dimensional requirements of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance, or applicable requirements of any other chapter of City Code have been met. 
 
The Department of Planning & Development encourages all applicants to access the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance online at http://www.statesboroga.gov/. The applicant is also encouraged to consult directly with 
representatives of the Engineering, Fire, and other permitting departments if any work on the building or 
site is occurring to determine whether or not building or site plans associated with the proposed use are 
necessary.  
 
Respectfully, 
 
Elizabeth Burns 
 
Elizabeth Burns 
Planner  
Department of Planning & Development 

50 East Main Street  P.O. Box 348  » (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458 Statesboro, Georgia 30459 » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 City of Statesboro 

Department of Planning and Development Memorandum 



OK Food Mart
3190 Northside Dr.
Statesboro, GA 30458

Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name.

Alcohol License Review

Department Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments

Planning &
Development

Elizabeth
Burns

Approve

Fire Department Justin
Taylor

Approve Inspection conducted on 10/4/2022.

Police
Department

Jared
Akins

Approve

Legal



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
From:  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
  John Washington, Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  11/28/2022 
 
RE:  Road & Right-of-Way (R/W) Dedication 

Quail Run Drive 
 
Policy Issue:  Subdivision Regulations 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff requests consideration of a motion for Council to authorize the Mayor to execute the attached 
resolution authorizing the Mayor to accept the road and right-of-way on behalf of the City of Statesboro. 
The Engineering Department has reviewed all items necessary for road acceptance and recommends 
approval of the road and right-of-way dedication for Quail Run Drive. 
 
Background:  
Quail Run was built in the 1970’s.  The right of way was never formally dedicated to the city but the city 
has used and maintained it for many years. The street was only paved part of the way to the end of the 
street as shown on the subdivision plat.  The property as originally subdivided resulted in a number of lots 
that were undevelopable due to extensive wetlands.  The property owner of those lots wants to 
recombine them into one lot along with the unpaved portion of the street right of way shown in the 
original subdivision plat.  This will result in a large enough area out of the wetlands to build upon.  The 
property owner is formally deeding the existing Right of Way to the City of Statesboro along with 
additional Right of Way to construct a cul-de-sac. 
 
Budget Impact:   
The City of Statesboro will maintain the roadway and limits of right-of-way. The City of Statesboro will 
construct the cul-de-sac at the end of the existing pavement.  This will be funded from the 2018 TSPLOST, 
CIP ENG-137 in the FY23 budget. 
 
Council Person and District: 
Councilmember Phil Boyum, District 1 
 
Attachments:  
Right-of-Way Plat 
Proposed Resolution 



RESOLUTION 2022-40: 

RESOLUTION ACCEPTING RIGHT OF WAY OF QUAIL RUN DRIVE AS A PUBLIC 
STREET TO BE OWNED AND MAINTAINED BY THE CITY OF STATESBORO, 
GEORGIA. 
 

THAT WHEREAS, James C. Hendry Homebuilders LLC of Statesboro is the owner of the 
street segment known as Quail Run Drive and wishes to convey said street to the City of 
Statesboro; and 

WHEREAS, with the planned growth of the surrounding area, the City believes it is in the best 
interest of the public for this road to be a public street, owned and maintained by the City;  

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, 
Georgia as follows: 

Section 1. That Quail Run Drive is hereby formally accepted for dedication by the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia as a public street and right-of-way to be owned and maintained by the City of Statesboro.  

Section 2. That this resolution authorize and direct the Mayor of the City of Statesboro, Georgia to accept 
the dedication of the above described property by virtue of a right of way deed. 

Section 3. All that certain, lot, tract or parcel of land lying, situate and being in the 1209th G.M.D., 
Bulloch County, Georgia, and in the City of Statesboro, containing 1.285 acres and being the proposed 
sixty (60’) foot public right-of-way as shown on a plat prepared by John A. Dotson, Surveyor, dated 
October 11, 2022, and recorded in Plat Book   69  , Page   209  , Bulloch County Records. The above 
referenced plat and the description thereon are by reference incorporated herein for all purposes of this 
description. 

Section 4. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this _____ day of _____________, 2022. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA          

  

By:  ________________________                         Attest:  ______________________      
       Jonathan McCollar, Mayor                Leah Harden, City Clerk        
                  
 
 



https://search.gsccca.org/Imaging/HTML5Viewer.aspx?id=2340678&key1=65&key2=566&county=16&countyname=BULLOCH&userid=25907&appid=28 1/1









CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, Planning and Housing Administrator 

 

Date: November 29, 2022 

 

RE: December 6, 2022 

 

Policy Issue: Grant Application 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of resolution to apply for the FY 

2023 Community Home Investment Program (CHIP) Grant. 

 

Background: The City previously approved the use of $5,000,000 of ARPA 

funding to be spent to improve housing conditions throughout the City with the 

Housing Rehabilitation Program. In initial inspections, many homes were 

identified as exceeding the cap granted for individual home renovations. 

Utilizing a mixture of CHIP Funding and the allotted funds for housing, identified 

needs for the community can be impacted for a number of homeowners who 

would otherwise be excluded.  

 

Budget Impact: $200,000 from ARPA Housing Rehabilitation Fund  

 

Council Person and District: All 

 

Attachments: CHIP Application Resolution 
 
 

 

 
 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


RESOLUTION 2022 - 41: A RESOLUTION APPROVING SUBMISSION OF A COMMUNITY HOME 

INVESTMENT PROGRAM (CHIP) GRANT APPLICATION TO THE GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF 

COMMUNITY AFFAIRS AND COMMITMENT OF MATCHING FUNDS 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council support the increase to the quality of life of the citizens of 

Statesboro; and, 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have identified through the Urban Redevelopment Plan, 

Affordable Housing Plan, and Housing Market Study, four neighborhoods in which blight exists; and, 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have determined that housing grant opportunities offered by the 

Community Home investment Program administered by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs 

provide viable solutions  to ameliorate many of these conditions; and, 

WHEREAS, it has been determined that a program to fund new construction/reconstruction of 

affordable single-family homes is an appropriate use of these funds; and, 

WHEREAS, the City has begun the process of redevelopment through the use of ARPA fund through the 

Statesboro Housing Rehabilitation Program, and; 

WHEREAS, a match of is being provided for houses already identified for repair in excess of $50,000. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia as 

follows: 

Section 1. That the Mayor and City Council hereby authorize the submittal to the Georgia Department of 

Community Affairs of the Community Home Investment Program (CHIP) Grant application. 

Section 2. That the Mayor and City Council hereby pledge the minimum amount of $200,000 of ARPA 

funds towards housing repair as a match based on the $50,000 cap listed per home. 

Section 3. That the City Council hereby authorizes the Mayor to execute all documents related to the 

adopted grant including certification of assurances for compliance with all program regulations included 

in Attachment 8 of the application entitled CHIP Grant Application Certified Assurances. 

Adopted this 6th day of December, 2022 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA  

By:___________________________________ Attest:___________________________ 

  Jonathan McCollar, Mayor   Leah Harden, City Clerk 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: November 30, 2022 
 
RE: December 6, 2022 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Lease agreement to provide office space to Representative Rick 
Allen for an additional two years with no rent assessed. 
 
Recommendation: Consideration 
 
Background: City has traditionally provided office space in City Hall to our 
Congressional representative. This lease would continue the placement of the 
office in City Hall through Rep Allen’s current two year term in the U.S. House of 
Representatives 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed lease agreement 

















 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To:  Jason Boyles  
       Assistant City Manager 
 
From: Steve Hotchkiss 
           Public Utilities Director 
 
Date: 11-28-2022 
 
RE: Recommendation of Bidder for Bruce Yawn Commerce Park Water and Sewer Extension 
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Y-Delta Inc. in the amount of 
$1,632,370.04 for the installation of water and sewer mains at the Bruce Yawn Commerce Park to serve 
Aspen Aerogels. To be paid for with funds approved in the FY2023 CIP Budget item #WWD-154, using 
system revenue and grant proceeds. 
 
Background: As part of the agreement between the City, Bulloch County Development Authority and 
Aspen Aerogels, the city agreed to extend the existing water and sewer mains to a mutually agreed upon 
location on the Aspen property. This extension will also makes water and sewer available to the last 
remaining large lot in the park, which has since been announced as the AJIN USA site. The project was 
formally bid and three qualified bids were received. Our consultants at Hussy Gay Bell Engineering have 
reviewed all of the bids and have provided a written recommendation to award the contract to Y-Delta 
Inc. Additionally, the EIP grant administrator, Allen Smith Consulting, has consulted with DCA and 
provided the attached “clearance” letter for Y Delta as the contractor. 
 
The bids received were higher than our original estimate of $1,560,710.00 however as part of the 
agreement between the City and Aspen Aerogels, Aspen agreed to pay all cost above $1,250,000.00. 
 
Budget Impact: CIP Project WWD-154 was approved in the 2023 Budget to be funded from Operating 
Revenue funds of $500,000.00, and grant proceeds of $750,000.00. 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: HGB Engineering award recommendation letter and bid abstract 
             DCA Clearance Letter 



 

 

November 17, 2022 
 
 
Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 
Director of Public Utilities 
City of Statesboro 
P O Box 348 
Statesboro, Georgia 30458 
 
RE: Southern Gateway Commerce Park Water & Sewer Extension 

City of Statesboro, Georgia  
 
Dear Mr. Hotchkiss: 
 
The following bids were received on November 16, 2022, for the above referenced project: 
 
Y-Delta Inc.    $ 1,632,370.04 
Tyson Utility Construction Inc. $ 1,671,284.28 
Mill Creek Construction Co.  $ 1,983,651.90 
 
As indicated, Y-Delta Inc. was the apparent low bidder. Enclosed is the Abstract of Bids for your 
review.  In our opinion, Y-Delta Inc. has the resources to successfully complete the project.  We 
recommend that a contract in the amount of $1,632,370.04 is awarded to Y-Delta Inc. for the 
project.  
 
Sincerely, 
HUSSEY GAY BELL 

 
 
 
 
Chris Burke, P.E. 
 
 
 



Item 

No.
Description

Estimated 

Quantity
Unit Bid Unit Price Bid Amount Bid Unit Price Bid Amount Bid Unit Price Bid Amount

1 12-inch C900 DR18 PVC Water Main installed by opencut 2,420 LF  $                  105.98  $            256,471.60  $                    73.92  $            178,886.40  $                    81.10  $               196,262.00 

2 12-inch C900 DR18 RJ PVC Water Main Installed by opencut 360 LF  $                  126.05  $               45,378.00  $                    89.36  $               32,169.60  $                    96.40  $                 34,704.00 

3

Remove existing 12-inch cap and connect to existing 12-

inch water main with 12-inch RJ sleeve and relocate existing 

line and valve

1 LS  $            14,493.87  $               14,493.87  $              5,179.73  $                 5,179.73  $              3,570.00  $                   3,570.00 

4 12-inch RJ 45° bend 4 EA  $              1,414.90  $                 5,659.60  $              1,031.71  $                 4,126.84  $              1,173.00  $                   4,692.00 

5 12-inch RJ 11.25° bend 3 EA  $              2,181.42  $                 6,544.26  $                  969.58  $                 2,908.74  $              1,173.00  $                   3,519.00 

6 12-inch RJ Cap 1 EA  $              1,407.16  $                 1,407.16  $                  557.85  $                    557.85  $                  555.90  $                      555.90 

7 Fire Hydrant assembly 7 EA  $              8,975.72  $               62,830.04  $              5,423.40  $               37,963.80  $              5,304.00  $                 37,128.00 

8 12-inch RJ Gate Valve and Box 1 EA  $              4,980.91  $                 4,980.91  $              4,031.49  $                 4,031.49  $              4,233.00  $                   4,233.00 

9
12-inch C900 DR18 PVC Gravity Sewer Main Installed by 

Opencut (10'-14' depth)
40 LF  $                  141.39  $                 5,655.60  $                  107.55  $                 4,302.00  $                  203.70  $                   8,148.00 

10
12-inch C900 DR18 PVC Gravity Sewer Main Installed by 

Opencut (14'-18' depth)
510 LF  $                  151.29  $               77,157.90  $                  159.10  $               81,141.00  $                  233.90  $               119,289.00 

11
12-inch C900 DR18 PVC Gravity Sewer Main Installed by 

Opencut (18'-22' depth)
750 LF  $                  182.70  $            137,025.00  $                  178.30  $            133,725.00  $                  279.20  $               209,400.00 

12
12-inch C900 DR18 PVC Gravity Sewer Main Installed by 

Opencut (22'-26' depth)
1,270 LF  $                  185.80  $            235,966.00  $                  268.85  $            341,439.50  $                  319.50  $               405,765.00 

13
12-inch C900 DR18 PVC Gravity Sewer Main Installed by 

Opencut (26'-30' depth)
310 LF  $                  205.90  $               63,829.00  $                  352.55  $            109,290.50  $                  375.00  $               116,250.00 

14 Standard 4-foot Diameter Manhole (10'-14' depth) 1 EA  $              2,969.76  $                 2,969.76  $              5,348.91  $                 5,348.91  $              5,049.00  $                   5,049.00 

15 Standard 4-foot Diameter Manhole (14'-18' depth) 2 EA  $              9,543.24  $               19,086.48  $              6,332.45  $               12,664.90  $              5,610.00  $                 11,220.00 

16 Standard 4-foot Diameter Manhole (18'-22' depth) 2 EA  $            13,641.99  $               27,283.98  $              7,405.60  $               14,811.20  $              7,089.00  $                 14,178.00 

17 Standard 4-foot Diameter Manhole (22'-26' depth) 4 EA  $            14,100.01  $               56,400.04  $              8,458.15  $               33,832.60  $              8,976.00  $                 35,904.00 

18 Standard 4-foot Diameter Manhole (26'-30' depth) 1 EA  $            20,660.88  $               20,660.88  $              9,083.25  $                 9,083.25  $            11,730.00  $                 11,730.00 

19
Core and Modify Manhole and Connect New 12-inch PVC 

Gravity Sewer
1 LS  $            25,000.00  $               25,000.00  $            13,253.00  $               13,253.00  $              5,100.00  $                   5,100.00 

20 Remove and Replace Gravel Drive 93 SY  $                  155.72  $               14,481.96  $                    43.69  $                 4,063.17  $                    36.00  $                   3,348.00 

21 Construction Entrance/Exit 1 EA  $              1,148.00  $                 1,148.00  $              4,800.00  $                 4,800.00  $              3,300.00  $                   3,300.00 

22 Silt Fence: Sd1-NS 5,650 LF  $                    10.00  $               56,500.00  $                      2.29  $               12,938.50  $                      2.80  $                 15,820.00 

23 Grassing, Fertilizing and Mulching 14,230 SY  $                      3.00  $               42,690.00  $                      0.56  $                 7,968.80  $                      1.00  $                 14,230.00 

24
Remove and Replace Unsuitable Material, Dispose off-site.  

Replace with Approved Off-Site Fill Material
6,750 CY  $                    12.50  $               84,375.00  $                    20.48  $            138,240.00  $                    27.00  $               182,250.00 

25 Remove and Replace Unsuitable Material with Rock 3,050 CY  $                    37.50  $            114,375.00  $                  112.15  $            342,057.50  $                  123.00  $               375,150.00 

26

Mobilization, Demobilization, Grading, Misc. Removal and 

Replacements, Clean-Up, Insurance, Bonds and Other Misc. 

Items not Specifically Listed but Necessary for a Complete 

Job.

1 LS  $          250,000.00  $            250,000.00  $          136,500.00  $            136,500.00  $          162,857.00  $               162,857.00 

 $         1,632,370.04  $         1,671,284.28  $            1,983,651.90 

100% 36% 51%

I certify that this is a correct Abstract of Bids

received November 16, 2022.

Correction made

based on unit price

______________________________________________

Chris Burke, P.E.

HUSSEY GAY BELL

Acknowledge Addendum #1

Bid Bond

MFBE Participation

Bid Total

SOUTHERN GATEWAY COMMERCE PARK WATER AND SEWER EXTENSION Y-Delta Inc. Tyson Utilities Construction Inc. Mill Creek Construction Co.



    

 

Christopher Nunn 
Commissioner 

Brian P. Kemp 
Governor 

 
 
 
 
November 29, 2022 
 
 
 
The Honorable Johnathan McCollar 
Mayor, City of Statesboro 
P.O. Box 348 
Statesboro, GA 30459        
 
Re:  Pending EIP 
        Contractor Clearance 
 
Dear Mayor McCollar: 
 
This is to acknowledge that on November 29, 2022, the Department of Community Affairs 
verified that Y-Delta, Inc. did not appear on the most recent US General Services 
Administration’s “List of Parties excluded from Federal Procurement and Non-
procurement Programs.” Please note that this clearance does not mean that DCA is 
“approving” this contractor. 
 
It is important to keep a copy of this letter in your Federal Labor Standards file for 
monitoring by DCA. Please note also that a “Notice of Contract Action” should be 
submitted to DCA whenever a public facility contract is awarded or construction is 
initiated. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Cindi K. Bernhardt 
CDBG Grant Consultant 
Office of Community Development 

 
cc:  Keeley Garrett, Allen Smith Consulting 
      Jennifer Fordham, DCA 

 


	12-06-2022 Council Agenda
	11-15-2022 Council Minutes
	OK Food Mart agenda item
	OK food mart memo (1)
	OK food mart app
	Ok Food Mart Alcohol License
	Copy of Copy of  Review Sheet Alcohol License

	Council Memo_Road Dedication_Quail Run 11-28-22
	Quail Run Dedication Resolution
	RESOLUTION ACCEPTING RIGHT OF WAY OF QUAIL RUN DRIVE AS A PUBLIC STREET TO BE OWNED AND MAINTAINED BY THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA.

	Quail Run Plat
	Quail Run Dedication
	James C. Hendry Portion of Quail Run Drive Plat Book 69 Page 209
	CHIP Council Memo
	Alllen lease memo
	Resolution for CHIP Application
	Statesboro Lease - 118th Congress - for Signature
	Aspen water sewer award 11-28-22
	Recommendation
	Aspen - Contractor Clearance Approval Letter Statesboro 2023 EIP



